JUL 1 2 2013

# IN THE

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

J.R. MARKETING, L.L.C. et al., Plaintiffs, Cross-Defendants and Respondents,

υ.

HARTFORD CASUALTY INSURANCE COMPANY, Defendant, Cross-Complainant and Appellant.

AFTER A DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL, FIRST APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION THREE CASE NO. A133750

# **PETITION FOR REVIEW**

HORVITZ & LEVY LLP



\*DAVID M. AXELRAD (BAR NO. 75731) ANDREA AMBROSE LOBATO (BAR NO. 254996) 15760 VENTURA BOULEVARD, 18TH FLOOR ENCINO, CALIFORNIA 91436-3000 (818) 995-0800 • FAX: (818) 995-3157 daxelrad@horvitzlevy.com; alobato@horvitzlevy.com

## **ISSUE PRESENTED**

Where an insurer has been denied the protection of Civil Code section 2860, may independent *Cumis* counsel shift to its clients liability for reimbursement of unreasonable and unnecessary legal fees? Or do the principles articulated in *Buss v. Superior Court* (1997) 16 Cal.4th 35 (*Buss*) and the established common-law remedies for money wrongfully received give an insurer a common law, quasi-contractual right to maintain a direct action against *Cumis* counsel for reimbursement of unreasonable and unnecessary defense fees and costs?

## INTRODUCTION: WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

The Court of Appeal held in a published opinion that, when the provisions of Civil Code section 2860 regulating independent *Cumis* counsel do not apply and an insurer's only remedy for unreasonable or excessive attorney fees is to bring an action after defense costs have been paid, the insurer has no right to assert a quasi-contractual claim for reimbursement against the law firm that charged and received the fees and, instead, may only seek reimbursement from its insureds.

By refusing to permit an insurer to seek relief in quasicontract for the unjust enrichment of a law firm that charges excessive fees, the Court of Appeal's decision undermines this court's decision in *Buss*, where the court held that "[t]he insurer... has a right of reimbursement that is implied in law as quasicontractual, whether or not it has one that is implied in fact in the policy as contractual.... [U]nder the law of restitution, such a right [implied in law] runs against the person who benefits from 'unjust enrichment' and in favor of the person who suffers loss thereby...." (*Buss, supra,* 16 Cal.4th at p. 51, fn. omitted.) That statement of the law is consistent with the long established rule providing a remedy against one who has unjustly received money from another.

The Court of Appeal's decision presents this court with an opportunity to address an issue that *Buss* implicitly decided but has not directly addressed—whether the restitutionary principles in

 $\cdot 2$ 

*Buss* apply only to insureds, and not to *Cumis* counsel, when the statutory protection of section 2860 is unavailable.

*Cumis* counsel in this case received approximately \$15 million in legal fees and costs, which the insurer's cross-complaint alleged were excessive, unnecessary, and unreasonable. In this circumstance, a number of public policies are advanced by the application of the restitutionary principles stated in *Buss* to permit the insurer to state a quasi-contractual unjust enrichment claim against *Cumis* counsel.

It would be fundamentally unfair to make the insureds alone bear the burden of litigation over their attorneys' legal fees and answer for their attorneys' overbilling. It was Cumis counsel in this case, and not the insureds, who received the legal fees. More generally, the Court of Appeal's decision carves a huge and unjustified hole in the general principle of California law that one may recover in quasi-contract or unjust enrichment for another's wrongful receipt of money. It simply cannot be the law that Cumis counsel can bill any amount they want, no matter how excessive or unreasonable, and then pass on liability for these excessive fees to their client or, if the client is judgment proof, the client's insurer. Such a result places the burden on the wrong parties, undermines the relationship between *Cumis* counsel and the insured, and opens the door for rampant overbilling practices by *Cumis* counsel. contrary to the public policy against excessive and unreasonable attorney fees and costs. Additionally, it would require the insured to bring a separate action against their *Cumis* counsel, unnecessarily adding to the burdens on the judicial system.

The issue presented here is likely to recur frequently.<sup>1</sup> Any time an insurer initially declines to defend an action, it is vulnerable to losing its section 2860 rights and, under the Court of Appeal's opinion, to then losing its right to seek the equitable remedy of restitution from *Cumis* counsel for unreasonable or unnecessary fees.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

# A. Insureds tender three related actions to Hartford, seeking a defense.

Hartford issued business insurance policies to J.R. Marketing, LLC and Noble Locks Enterprises, Inc. (1 AA 8-9.) Three actions were tendered to Hartford for defense and indemnity under these policies:

- An action filed in Marin County Superior Court (Marin Action). (1 AA 9.)
- An action filed in Clark County, Nevada District Court (Nevada Action). (1 AA 9.)
- A third party action filed in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Virginia (Virginia Action). (1 AA 10.)

Hartford initially disclaimed coverage of the Marin Action, but after being provided with additional information, later agreed to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> After the Court of Appeal issued its opinion, six requests for publication were filed, strongly suggesting that the issue presented here is a recurring one.

provide a defense. (1 AA 9; typed opn., 3.) Hartford denied coverage of the Nevada Action and agreed to defend the Virginia Action through panel counsel, as Virginia law permitted, under a reservation of rights. (1 AA 10.)

B. Insureds sue Hartford and the trial court orders Hartford to pay all defense fees and costs without resorting to the provisions of Civil Code section 2860. Hartford is permitted to challenge unreasonable and unnecessary defense fees and costs only by way of an action for reimbursement after the underlying actions against the insureds are resolved.

The insureds sued Hartford alleging breach of contract and breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing. (1 AA 9.) The insureds alleged that Hartford had a duty to provide and pay fees for independent counsel from the date of tender of the Marin Action. (Typed opn., 3.) The trial court ordered Hartford to pay defense fees and costs and provide independent (*Cumis*) counsel for the insureds in the Marin Action. The trial court further ordered that Hartford was not entitled to the protection of Civil Code section 2860, subdivision (c), that it had to pay bills on an ongoing basis without deduction within 30 days of their presentation, and "[t]o the extent Hartford seeks to challenge fees and costs as unreasonable or unnecessary, it may do so by way of reimbursement *after* resolution of the *Avganim* [Marin] matter."<sup>2</sup> (1 AA 2-4, 10-11, emphasis added.)

By stipulation of the parties, the insureds' bad faith action against Hartford was stayed, pending resolution of the underlying actions. (1 AA 11.) Hartford paid approximately \$15 million in legal fees and costs to or at the behest of the insureds' *Cumis* counsel, Squire Sanders, for the defense of the insureds in the underlying actions. (1 AA 11.)

C. After the three underlying actions conclude, Hartford files an action for reimbursement alleging that fees and costs charged by Squire Sanders were unreasonable, unnecessary, and unconscionable.

Pursuant to the trial court's order, Hartford filed a crosscomplaint, which included claims for reimbursement and unjust enrichment against both the insureds and Squire Sanders. (1 AA 6-17.) Hartford sought reimbursement from Squire Sanders of legal fees and costs paid to them because: (1) fees were paid that were outside the scope of the trial court's order, which required Hartford to pay all "*reasonable* and *necessary* defense costs" (1 AA 2, 13, emphasis added); and (2) Squire Sanders charged fees which violated ethical rules governing attorneys, including but not limited

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> In a prior opinion (J.R. Marketing, LLC v. Hartford Cas. Ins. Co. (Nov. 30, 2007, A115846) 2007 WL 4217443, at p. \*2 [nonpub. opn.]), the Court of Appeal upheld these orders, as well as the trial court's ruling that Hartford is not entitled to the protection of Civil Code section 2860, subdivision (c). (1 AA 2, 76-78.)

to rule 4-200 of the Rules of Professional Conduct, or which otherwise were unreasonable, unnecessary, or unconscionable. (1 AA 12.)<sup>3</sup>

D. The trial court dismisses Hartford's reimbursement action against Squire Sanders on the grounds that an insurer may only seek reimbursement of excessive defense costs from its insured. The Court of Appeal affirms.

The trial court sustained a demurrer without leave to amend and dismissed Hartford's cross-complaint as to Squire Sanders on grounds that Hartford could not assert a claim for reimbursement against a law firm hired as independent counsel to represent its insureds, but was instead limited to seeking reimbursement from the insureds themselves. (2 AA 430-431, 459; RT 3-4.) The Court of Appeal affirmed, concluding that the policies underlying section 2860 do not permit Hartford to sue Squire Sanders directly for reimbursement. (Typed opn., 12.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> In the reimbursement action, Hartford also sought fees that were paid for defense of persons and entities who were not insureds under Hartford's policies and for actions not covered by those policies. (1 AA 13-14.)

## LEGAL ARGUMENT

I. WHERE CIVIL CODE SECTION 2860 DOES NOT APPLY, INSURERS SHOULD HAVE THE RIGHT TO SEEK REIMBURSEMENT OF EXCESSIVE, UNREASONABLE OR UNNECESSARY FEES FROM CUMIS COUNSEL.

# A. Hartford alleged sufficient facts to support a reimbursement action against Squire Sanders.

A claim of restitution is appropriate to remedy unjust enrichment in the absence of an express contract. (Durrell v. Sharp Healthcare (2010) 183 Cal.App.4th 1350, 1370 (Durell); see Ward v. Taggart (1959) 51 Cal.2d 736, 741 ["the public policy of this state does not permit one to 'take advantage of his own wrong' [citation] and the law provides a quasi-contractual remedy to prevent one from being unjustly enriched at the expense of another"].) The law of restitution thus imposes a relationship upon parties who have no express contract between them " 'for the purpose of bringing about justice without reference to the intention of the parties.' " (Ward, at p. 743); see Desny v. Wilder (1956) 46 Cal.2d 715, 734 ["The law ... is dedicated to the proposition that for every wrong there is a remedy ... and for the sake of protecting one party it must not close the forum to the other"].)

The facts stated in the cross-complaint are that Hartford paid Squire Sanders approximately \$15 million in legal fees and costs to

defend its insureds as *Cumis* counsel and that Hartford is entitled to reimbursement. The cross-complaint alleges that (a) fees were paid to Squire Sanders that were outside the scope of the trial court's order, which required Hartford to pay all "*reasonable* and *necessary* defense costs" (1 AA 2, 13, emphasis added); and (b) that Squire Sanders charged fees that violated ethical rules governing attorneys, including but not limited to rule 4-200 of the Rules of Professional Conduct, or which otherwise were unreasonable, unnecessary, or unconscionable. (1 AA 12.)

These facts justify imposing an implied-in-law, quasicontractual obligation on the part of Squire Sanders to restore to Hartford any fees Hartford paid by which Squire Sanders was unjustly enriched. (See *Durrell, supra*, 183 Cal.App.4th at p. 1370 ["'Under the law of restitution, "[a]n individual is required to make restitution if he or she is unjustly enriched at the expense of another"'"]; *Doe v. City of Los Angeles* (2007) 42 Cal.4th 531, 549-550 [a complaint will be upheld "'so long as the pleading gives notice of the issues sufficient to enable preparation of a defense'"].)

The trial court held that the provisions of Civil Code section 2860 were unavailable in this case, and Hartford's sole remedy for excessive attorney fees was a reimbursement action, and then only upon completion of the underlying Marin Action.<sup>4</sup> But the right to seek reimbursement exists separate and apart from section 2860, and is rooted in principles of equity. There is simply nothing to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> If Civil Code section 2860 applied, Hartford would have had a timely, relatively inexpensive way to challenge Squire Sanders' billings (Civ. Code § 2860, subd. (c).)

indicate that removal of the protection of section 2860 abrogates the common law right of an insurer to seek reimbursement of excessive attorney fees from the attorneys to whom those fees were paid under the principles of restitution founded upon the law of quasicontract.

The inapplicability of section 2860 does not and should not limit the common law and equitable claims that arise from an insurer's quasi-contractual relationship with *Cumis* counsel.

B. This court's decision in *Buss* supports the existence of an insurer's right to seek restitution from *Cumis* counsel for excessive or unreasonable fees when section 2860 does not apply.

This court's decision in *Buss* strongly suggests that an insurer should have the right to seek restitution directly from *Cumis* counsel where, as in the present case, the insurer's sole remedy for excessive *Cumis* fees is an action for reimbursement. In language that applies with equal force to this case, this court explained in *Buss* that "[t]he insurer . . . has a right of reimbursement that is implied in law as quasi-contractual, whether or not it has one that is implied in fact in the policy as contractual . . . . [U]nder the law of restitution, such a right [implied in law] runs against the person who benefits from 'unjust enrichment' and in favor of the person who suffers loss thereby . . . " (*Buss, supra*, 16 Cal.4th at p. 51; see also *Rains v. Arnett* (1961) 189 Cal.App.2d 337, 344 ["an action for money had and received lies in cases where one person has in his possession money which in equity and good conscience he ought to pay over to another"].) Buss does not hold or even imply that the reimbursement action authorized there is the only reimbursement action that an insurer may ever bring under any circumstance, or that an insurer cannot seek restitution directly from Cumis counsel on the basis of the implied-in-law obligation of Cumis counsel to charge the insurer only for reasonable and necessary legal services. Reading Buss in that way would improperly attribute to the Buss court the unstated intention to overrule a large body of established California law.

The Court of Appeal's refusal to apply these restitutionary principles suggests a lack of clarity in the law after *Buss* concerning the scope of an insurer's right to seek equitable remedies for excessive and unreasonable attorney fees in those circumstances where the protection of section 2860 is unavailable. This case presents the court with an opportunity to provide that clarity.

C. Public policy supports an insurer's right to seek restitution from *Cumis* counsel for unreasonable or unnecessary legal fees.

Whether the law of restitution should be applied in a particular case involves an evaluation of public policy to determine whether a person has been unjustly enriched. (See *McBride v. Boughton* (2004) 123 Cal.App.4th 379, 389 [" '[d]etermining whether it is unjust for a person to retain a benefit may involve policy considerations' "]; accord, *First Nationwide Savings v. Perry* (1992)

11 Cal.App.4th 1657, 1663 [same].) Here, contrary to the Court of Appeal's conclusion (typed opn., 12), permitting Hartford's restitution claim to proceed directly against Squire Sanders ensures fundamental fairness and furthers judicial economy without undercutting the policies underlying Civil Code section 2860.

If, because Civil Code section 2860 does not apply in this case, Hartford is limited to seeking reimbursement solely from its insureds, the insureds are exposed to a double litigation burden. They would first have to bear the burden of litigating the reasonableness of legal fees in excess of \$15 million that they did not charge or collect, and then, if Hartford is successful, face the burden of litigating an action for reimbursement against their own lawyers.

Why should the insureds (and the court system) be subjected to this double litigation burden over reimbursement of fees they never charged or received? And, if the insureds are, for any reason, unable to pursue a reimbursement action against their attorneys, why should they be left holding the bag for their attorneys' overbilling practices? The only fair result in this circumstance is to apply traditional principles of restitution to recognize the impliedin-law obligation that exists between Hartford and Squire Sanders and permit that obligation to be enforced by Hartford in a direct action for reimbursement against Squire Sanders. Because it is *Cumis* counsel, and not the insured, that charged and received the fees from the insurer, *Cumis* counsel should be directly responsible for any excesses.

Indeed, it makes no sense to conclude that, while *Cumis* counsel would be a proper party to a fee dispute if Civil Code section 2860 applied (see Croskey, et al., Cal. Practice Guide: Insurance Litigation (The Rutter Group 2012) ¶ 7:809, p. 7B-106.6 [binding arbitration is required of the "parties to the dispute" over *Cumis* fees under Civil Code section 2860; "'[p]arties to the dispute' presumably includes the *Cumis* counsel, in addition to the insurer and the insured"]), *Cumis* counsel cannot be a party to a fee dispute in this case where the court has ruled section 2860 is inapplicable and limited the "parties to the dispute" to a reimbursement action after all of the fees have been paid.

Allowing an insurer to hold *Cumis* counsel directly responsible for excessive fees in a restitution action also advances the public policy against unreasonable attorney fees embodied in the California Rules of Professional Conduct. (See *Bird*, *Marella*, *Boxer & Wolpert v. Superior Court* (2003) 106 Cal.App.4th 419, 431 ["Rule 4-200(A) of the Rules of Professional Conduct . . . states: 'A member shall not . . . charge, or collect an illegal or unconscionable fee.' The Rules of Professional Conduct . . . 'serve as an expression of public policy to protect the public'"]; *Cotchett, Pitre & McCarthy v. Universal Paragon Corp.* (2010) 187 Cal.App.4th 1405, 1417 ["Fee agreements that violate the Rules of Professional Conduct may be deemed unenforceable on public policy grounds"].) *Cumis* counsel should not be permitted to collect fees for unreasonable and unnecessary work, and then leave the insureds holding the bag.

The Court of Appeal ignored these policies and refused to apply restitutionary principles articulated in *Buss* because of its concern that allowing an insurer to seek reimbursement directly from *Cumis* counsel threatens the independence of counsel by enabling the insurer to second-guess defense counsel. (Typed opn., 13-14.) But the Court of Appeal acknowledged that Hartford may bring a reimbursement action against its insured (typed opn., 15-16), which if successful, will result in the insured bringing a followup reimbursement action against its counsel. (Typed opn., 16.) Thus, *Cumis* counsel's fees will be second guessed twice—once in the insurer's reimbursement action against the insured, and then again in the insured's action against its counsel.

Moreover, if section 2860 had applied, Hartford would have been able to second-guess *Cumis* counsel by submitting a claim for excessive fees to binding arbitration in which Squire Sanders would have been a proper party. (*Handy v. First Interstate Bank* (1993) 13 Cal.App.4th 917, 923; *Long v. Century Indemnity Co.* (2008) 163 Cal.App.4th 1460, 1471; *Fireman's Fund Ins. Companies v. Younesi* (1996) 48 Cal.App.4th 451,459; Croskey et al., Cal. Practice Guide: Insurance Litigation, *supra*, ¶ 7:809, p. 7B-106.6.) There is no principled reason why the difference in outcome should hinge on whether section 2860 applies. Section 2860 is a mechanism to allow an insurer to identify and arbitrate independent counsel's excessive billings as they arise. (See *Gray Cary Ware & Freidenrich v. Vigilant Insurance Co.* (2004) 114 Cal.App.4th 1185, 1193 [in enacting section 2860, "[i]t appears the Legislature focused on the rates to be paid Cumis counsel and a method for resolving disputes

over these rates"].) The right to seek reimbursement exists separate and apart from section 2860, and is rooted in principles of equity. The inapplicability of section 2860 means only that Hartford is not protected by the statutory restrictions on independent counsel experience and rates or the availability of binding arbitration of attorney fee disputes, nothing more. Removal of the protection of section 2860 does not abrogate the common law right of an insurer to seek reimbursement of excessive attorney fees from the attorneys to whom those fees were paid.

The Court of Appeal's concern is unfounded for an additional reason. The independence of *Cumis* counsel is not threatened where, as in this case, the underlying litigation is concluded and the purpose for which *Cumis* counsel was retained has been fulfilled. Hartford's reimbursement action involves the question of whether Squire Sanders should reimburse Hartford for attorney fees and costs that have already been paid. Accordingly, the insureds' ability to defend themselves in the underlying action is not threatened, any more than the reimbursement action against the insureds, permitted by the decision in *Buss*.

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