S211645



JUL 3 1 2013

IN THE ______ SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

HARTFORD CASUALTY INSURANCE COMPANY,

Defendant, Cross-Complainant, and Appellant,

VS.

J.R. MARKETING, LLC, et al.,

Plaintiffs, Cross-Defendants, and Respondents.

After a Decision By the Court of Appeal, First Appellate District, Division Three Case No. A133750 (Following an Order by the Trial Court, San Francisco County Superior Court, Judge Loretta Giorgi, Case No. CGC-06449220)

RESPONDENTS' ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Squire Sanders (US) LLP
Mark C. Dosker (CA Bar No. 114789)
Michelle M. Full (CA Bar No. 240973)
275 Battery Street, Suite 2600
San Francisco, California 94111

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

III. LEGAL ARGUMENT

Hartford devotes the bulk of its Petition arguing the merits of its appeal, effectively dancing around the question of whether the decision below warrants this Court's review at all. That is because Hartford does not have much to say on this score—it cannot identify any split of authority and instead only presents a question of application of settled law to a unique factual scenario. Such matters do not warrant this Court's intervention.

A. There Is No Conflict In The Law Warranting This Court's Review.

This Court generally does not exercise jurisdiction except when "necessary to secure uniformity of decision or to settle an important question of law." (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.500(b)(1).) Yet in the few paragraphs that Hartford devotes to arguing why this Court should hear this case, Hartford does not even attempt to argue that the appellate court's decision creates any conflict in the law—nor could Hartford plausibly do so. Hartford does not cite a single case in its entire Petition in which an insurer that breached its duty to defend was permitted to bring a claim directly against its insured's independent counsel for reimbursement of allegedly "unnecessary or unreasonable" fees. As such, there is no conflict that might necessitate review by this Court.

B. Hartford Does Not Present Any Important Question Of Law.

Recognizing that there is no conflict in the law warranting this Court's review, Hartford instead seeks to portray the issues in the appellate court's decision as presenting an "important question of law." But there is no important legal question in the appellate court's "quite limited" decision—only the application of settled law to the facts of this case.

1. The Issue Hartford Proposes Is Not Likely To Recur Because It Can Only Arise In Limited Factual Circumstances.

As a cornerstone to its Petition, Hartford posits that the reimbursement issue it presents for this Court's review is important because it "is likely to recur frequently." (Petition at 4.) That notion is broadly dispelled by the fact that Hartford fails to identify—in the nearly thirty years since *Cumis* was handed down—any other California cases where its argument was raised (much less endorsed). The lack of any other caselaw

illustrates the fallacy of Hartford's contention that this case presents an issue likely to recur.

It is not surprising that Hartford identifies no other case addressing this issue because the new type of reimbursement claim that Hartford seeks to fashion can only arise in the specific constellation of facts that exist in this case. Specifically, Hartford's new reimbursement claim can—by definition—only arise where *all* of the following occur:

- (1) an insurer breaches duty to defend and thereby forfeits the protections of Section 2860;
- (2) the insureds separately hire independent counsel;
- (3) the insurer is ordered to pay independent counsel's fees on an ongoing basis (rather than the insured waiting until after the underlying litigation concludes to recover the fees it has incurred, through a coverage action or otherwise);
- (4) the insurer seeks to recover fees that were allegedly "unnecessary or unreasonable" to the insured's defense (as opposed to fees incurred on noncovered claims or fees arising out of fraudulent billing practices); and
- (5) the insurer seeks to recover such fees directly from independent counsel (as opposed to the insured).

Even where these factual prerequisites happen to align, the odds of the issue in Hartford's Petition arising are further diminished if any potential fee disputes happen to be wrapped up in a "global" settlement of the underlying litigation. Finally, few insurers would be brazen enough to bring a reimbursement claim that so clearly runs afoul of *Buss*, which as discussed further below narrowly defined the right to reimbursement as

arising *only* against the insured and *only* for claims that are not potentially covered by the policy. All of this explains why Hartford cannot identify any other relevant cases besides this one.

Indeed, the only support Hartford offers for its assertion that the issues in this case are likely to recur is a footnote reference to the handful of third-party requests for publication of the appellate court's opinion. (See Petition at 4 n.l.) Those requests, however, reinforce the rarity of the circumstances in this case. All but one of the requests were submitted by insureds who were frustrated with insurers' escalating attempts to delay and avoid their duties to defend. They sought publication of the appellate court's decision because it reinforced the longstanding California law that an insurer who breaches its duty to defend loses the right to select independent counsel and to control its defense strategy. As such, the circumstances that could potentially give rise to the issue that Hartford asks this Court to review are indeed "quite limited" as the appellate court recognized, and unlikely to recur frequently.

2. The Appellate Court's Application Of Settled Law Does Not Warrant This Court's Review.

The appellate court recognized that this case did not blaze any new legal trails—it was simply an example of an insurer trying to escape the consequences of breaching its duty to defend. The court applied settled California law regarding the consequences of an insurer's breach to the facts of this case, and concluded that Hartford could not bring a reimbursement claim against Squire Sanders. That application, which

With respect to the sole request for publication submitted by an attorney, Hartford's Petition omits a telling fact. That attorney was sued in federal court by an insurer for reimbursement of fees, and the court dismissed the claim as unauthorized under California law. (See Exhibits to Newmeyer & Dillion's June 4, 2013 Request for Publication.)

Hartford largely elects to disregard in its Petition, does not present any important issue warranting this Court's review.

The appellate court began its analysis by surveying California law regarding the consequences of an insurer's breach of its duty to defend. It noted, for example, that a breaching insurer waives the protections of Section 2860, which includes limitations on hourly rates and the right to arbitrate disputes regarding the amount of fees. (Decision at 9-10, 13-14.) It also discussed the principle that an insurer who breaches its duty to defend "loses all right to control the defense, including, necessarily, the right to control financial decisions such as the rate paid to independent counsel or the cost-effectiveness of any particular defense tactic or approach." (*Id.* at 13; *see also id.* at 14 ("[I]t is clear California law bars an insurer, like Hartford, in breach of its duty to defend from thereafter imposing on its insured its own choice of defense counsel, fee arrangement or strategy.").)

In light of this settled law and the indisputable fact that Hartford breached its duty to defend, the appellate court ruled that Hartford could not sue Squire Sanders to recover fees that it claimed were "unreasonable or unnecessary" to the insureds' defense. First, the appellate court determined that such a claim would improperly allow a breaching insurer to retroactively control the insureds' defense. (Supra at 13.) As the court noted, it was the insureds—not Hartford—who hired Squire Sanders and had the right to choose how to defend against the claims in the Marin Litigation:

Recall Hartford, an insurer in breach of its duty to defend, chose not to align its interests with the insured cross-defendants for purposes of the Marin defense and thereby forfeited all right to control that defense. Placed in this position, cross-defendants, not Hartford, hired Squire as independent counsel to represent their

interests in the defense, negotiated the relevant fee arrangement with Squire, and oversaw all matters defense strategy including, deciding with Squire presumably, cost/benefit of various litigation pursuits. It is within this context that Hartford claims the legal right to bring a reimbursement action against Squire for allegedly charging excessive, unreasonable or unnecessary fees for their provision of legal services in the name of crossdefendants' defense. We think not.

(Id. at 13-14 (emphasis added).)

Indeed, the specific complaints Hartford raises about Squire Sanders' fees substantiate the appellate court's concern. Among other things, Hartford protests that Squire Sanders should not have filed certain motions, pursued certain discovery measures, conducted certain legal research, or had certain attorneys working on the matter. As the appellate court observed, California law does not allow a breaching insurer to control and second-guess independent counsel's decisions in these ways while litigation is underway—much less after the fact through a claim for reimbursement. To hold otherwise would essentially require counsel to seek advance approval from the insurer for certain litigation decisions, effectively placing counsel in an untenable position if its client directs the action but the insurer balks.

In its Motion for Judicial Notice, Hartford asks the Court to consider the trial court's June 24, 2013 Statement of Decision, in which it held that Hartford was entitled to reimbursement of approximately \$5 million from the insureds. The insureds filed extensive objections to that Statement of Decision and moved the court to reconsider or vacate its decision. (See July 23, 2013 Respondents' Response to Hartford's Motion for Judicial Notice.) That matter is now subject to the insureds' objections, and if necessary, an appeal. But regardless of how those proceedings unfold, they illustrate the peril of allowing a breaching insurer to complain about the implementation of basic litigation strategy and management years after the fact.

Second, the appellate court ruled that Hartford's reimbursement claim "would effectively afford the insurer that has waived the protections of section 2860 through its own wrongdoing *more* rights in a fee dispute with independent counsel than the insurer that has not waived such protections" including the right to sue independent counsel in court rather than arbitrate any fee disputes. (*Id.* at 14.) Section 2860 also provides certain protection concerning counsel's hourly rate, which breaching insurers should not be able to obtain through the backdoor by criticizing hourly rates of independent counsel (as Hartford seeks to do here).

Hartford does not, and cannot, dispute the well-settled law regarding an insurer's breach of its duty to defend that formed the legal basis for the decision that it now asks this Court to review. Instead, Hartford goes to great lengths to avoid this issue. On nearly every page of its Petition, Hartford engages in linguistic gymnastics and uses a conspicuously passive voice to avoid referring to the reason why the protections of Section 2860 did not apply in this case. (See, e.g., Petition at 1 ("Where an insurer has been denied the protection of Civil Code section 2860 . . . "); id. at 2 ("The Court of Appeal held in a published opinion that . . . the provisions of Civil Code section 2860 regulating independent Cumis counsel do not apply "); id. at 2-3 (". . . whether the restitutionary principles in Buss apply only to insureds, and not to Cumis counsel, when the statutory protection of section 2860 is unavailable.") (emphases added)). The fact that Hartford cannot even be candid about its breach is a reflection on how instrumental that breach was to the outcome below.

3. <u>Hartford's Reliance On Buss Does Not Create Any</u> <u>Important Issue Of Law.</u>

Hartford tries to pique the Court's interest by citing to its decision in Buss v. Superior Ct. (1997) 16 Cal.4th 35, and arguing that the Petition presents "an issue that Buss implicitly decided but has not directly

addressed." (Petition at 2.) But Hartford's argument in this regard rests on a serious distortion of *Buss*.

In Buss, this Court held that an insurer may "seek reimbursement from the insured" for fees related to claims "that are not even potentially covered." (16 Cal.4th at 49-50 (emphasis added).) And even with respect to such actions, this Court appreciated that the insurer must "accomplish a task that, if ever feasible, may be extremely difficult." (Id. at 58 (internal quotations omitted).) The Court further appreciated that insurers would only bring such claims in "exceptional" circumstances "where the defense costs the insurer may obtain in reimbursement are clear and substantial and where the assets the insured has available for reimbursement are themselves of the same sort." (Id. (first emphasis in original, second added).)

Hartford's assertion that this Court "implicitly" decided that insurers could bring direct actions against independent counsel for allegedly "unnecessary and unreasonable" fees thus finds no support in the actual words this Court used in Buss. The Court was careful to define the right of reimbursement of fees on uncovered claims as available only against the insured, and to describe how limited it is. In doing so, the Court explicitly insulated independent counsel from the effects of reimbursement claims, noting that reimbursement would not undermine the insured's defense because "[t]he insured's counsel remains free to represent the insured as he sees fits, subject only to generally applicable legal provisions and professional standards." (Supra at 58 (emphasis added).) Hartford seeks to expand Buss far beyond its narrow confines, which explains its inability to locate any other California cases validating its proffered interpretation of Buss.

Furthermore, the Court explicitly reserved judgment on how an insurer's breach of its duty to defend would impact the right of

reimbursement, because "[w]hether such a rule is sound is a question for another day, when we are faced with an insurer that has so misconducted itself." (Supra at 60 n.25.) In that regard, it is notable that the Court based the right of reimbursement, in part, on the need to encourage insurers to fulfill their duty to defend. (Id. at 52 ("Without a right of reimbursement, an insurer might be tempted to refuse to defend an action in any part").) But Hartford's proposed reimbursement claim against independent counsel would actually encourage insurers to ignore their obligations, knowing they could always second-guess independent counsel's defense after the underlying litigation concludes. Buss in no way supports such a result, and the irony of a breaching insurer looking to Buss to expand its legal remedies seems lost on Hartford.

Hartford goes further astray by asserting that it has a "quasi-contractual" relationship with Squire Sanders and therefore has a right to seek reimbursement directly from the law firm. (See, e.g., Petition at 10 ("The inapplicability of section 2860 does not and should not limit the common law and equitable claims that arise from an insurer's quasi-contractual relationship with Cumis counsel.").) But the Court in Buss made it clear that it is the insured that has "quasi-contractual" relationship with the insurer, potentially giving rise to a claim of reimbursement "from the insured." (16 Cal.4th at 39-40.) Squire Sanders has absolutely no relationship with Hartford, either factual or legal. As the appellate court recognized, it was the insureds—not Hartford—that independently hired Squire Sanders after Hartford refused to honor its duty to defend. (Decision at 13-14.)

Moreover, it bears emphasizing that California law provides that *Cumis* counsel owes no duties to the insurer apart from the statutory duties contained in Section 2860 (and those only apply in situations, unlike the present one, where the insurer does not breach its duties). (*See, e.g., Truck*

Ins. Exchange v. Superior Court (1996) 51 Cal.App.4th 985, 998; Assurance Co. of America v. Haven (1995) 32 Cal.App.4th 78 (rejecting insurer's action against independent counsel beyond the reporting requirements in section 2860).)

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